COA NO. 45103-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY CLARK,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Kathryn J. Nelson, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASEY GRANNIS
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 East Madison
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel due to counsel's failure to object to jurors being told this was not a death penalty case.

2. The court violated appellant's constitutional right to present a complete defense in excluding evidence of appellant's mental retardation.

3. Cumulative error deprived appellant of his due process right to a fair trial.

4. The court erred in instructing the jury on an uncharged alternative means of committing the crime of first degree robbery.

5. The court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial during the jury selection process.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. In a first degree murder case, it is error to inform jurors the death penalty is not at issue. It makes jurors less careful during deliberations and more likely to convict. Here, appellant's attorneys did not object to jurors being told this was not a death penalty case. Where there was no legitimate tactical reason for this mistake, did appellant receive ineffective assistance of counsel?

2. The court barred appellant from eliciting evidence about his mental retardation. This evidence was relevant to show appellant's state of mind

in connection with whether the State proved premeditation, intent or recklessness in fatally shooting the victim. It was also relevant to appellant's credibility. Is reversal required because the court's violation of appellant's constitutional right to present a complete defense was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

3. Whether the "to convict" instruction for first degree robbery contained an uncharged alternative means of committing the crime, requiring reversal of the conviction?

4. Whether the court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial when it conducted the peremptory challenge portion of the jury selection process in private without analyzing the requisite factors to justify closure?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Anthony Clark with first degree premeditated murder (count I), first degree felony murder (count II), first degree robbery (count III), unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver - cocaine (count IV), and second degree unlawful possession of a firearm (count V). CP 183-85. It sought firearm enhancements for counts I through IV. CP 183-84.

1. *State's Case*

Ms. Eller lived in the apartment unit above Clark and his mother. 22RP¹ 833-34. She shared the apartment with Ms. Bassett. 22RP 827, 900. Bassett's boyfriend, Mr. Woods, stayed at the apartment as well. 22RP 835, 901, 996-97. On September 7, 2011, Eller and Bassett heard a sound like a firework while in their apartment. 22RP 838, 901. Bassett's son testified that he heard a pop like a gunshot and told police that he then heard a big boom like someone hit the wall. 22RP 931, 947. Eller later encountered Clark in a yellow shirt as she went down to the laundry room. 22RP 840. Clark had her garbage can and told her he was doing some spring cleaning. 22RP 842. Eller joked about him not filling the can up. 22RP 842. Clark said there would still be room. 22RP 842.

When Eller made her way back upstairs, Clark asked her if she knew about dope. 22RP 844. He told her that he needed help in selling it

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP -5/8/12 (morning); 2RP - 5/8/12 (afternoon); 3RP - 5/11/12; 4RP - 5/17/12; 5RP - 6/1/12; 6RP - 6/15/12; 7RP - 8/1/12; 8RP - 9/17/12; 9RP - 9/21/12; 10RP - four consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 9/27/12, 10/4/12, 10/8/12, 10/12/12; 11RP - 9/28/12; 12RP - two consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 10/22/12, 10/23/12; 13RP - 10/24/12; 14RP - 10/29/12; 15RP - 11/5/12; 16RP - 11/9/12; 17RP - 11/13/12; 18RP - 12/3/12; 19RP - 12/17/12; 20RP - 2/8/13; 21RP - 2/15/13; 22RP - 15 consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 3/7/13, 3/11/13, 3/12/13 (morning), 3/12/13 (subsequent), 3/13/13, 3/14/13, 3/18/13, 3/19/13, 3/20/13, 3/25/13, 3/26/13, 3/27/13, 4/15/13, 4/16/13, 4/17/13; 23RP - 4/26/13; 24RP - 5/24/13; 25RP - 5/28/13; 26RP - 6/14/13.

to get money for school clothes. 22RP 844, 888, 898.² Eller took a green M&M bottle from him and poured out 15 individual pieces of crack cocaine into her hand. 22RP 844-46. Eller told him that she did not know anyone that could help him. 22RP 844. She said someone upstairs might know, referring to Bassett and Woods. 22RP 844-45, 897.

Upon returning to her apartment, Eller told Bassett and Woods about her conversation with Clark. 22RP 847-48, 1002-03. Bassett called for Clark to come up. 22RP 848.³ Clark told the three that he needed to sell the drugs to get money for clothes, and that whoever helped him would get half the profit. 22RP 849, 904-05, 1003-04. Clark said a friend had given him the crack. 22RP 850, 854. Clark emptied the M&M bottle and showed it to them. 22RP 905, 1004-06.⁴ They told him they could not help him. 22RP 905-06, 1009.

Clark also asked for help in disposing of a body. 22RP 850-51, 1007-08. He said he killed someone downstairs. 22RP 906. Bassett asked if he was serious. 22RP 906. Clark said he was just playing. 22RP 906. Then he said he was serious. 22RP 907. He was worried about

² Eller knew Clark was no longer in school. 22RP 889.

³ Contrary to Eller's testimony, Bassett denied calling for Clark. 22RP 904, 922. Contrary to Eller's and Woods' testimony, Bassett denied that Eller told her about Clark wanting to sell crack before he came up. 22RP 904, 922.

⁴ Bassett's son testified that he heard the boom sound after Clark had showed them the crack and then left. 22RP 941-43.

moving the body before his mom came home at 5 o'clock. 22RP 853, 907.

He did not want to get in trouble with his mom. 22RP 1008.

According to Bassett, Clark said "I called him over to my house, told him to reach for something in my closet . . . When he came up, I popped him in the back of his head with a deuce deuce" (a .22). 22RP 907. According to Woods, Clark said "I shot him in the head." 22RP 1035. According to Eller, Clark said he pointed and popped the gun when the person had reached down in a closet. 22RP 851. Clark said there was only a small amount of blood on the carpet. 22RP 852. He said he tossed the gun in some bushes a couple blocks up. 22RP 852, 908.

Clark said something about "the boy beating up his baby's mom" and that his mom or dad had taught him to never let a man put a hand on his baby's mom. 22RP 850-51, 907, 1035. Eller asked if he was playing a sick game. 22RP 850. Clark said the body was downstairs and she could go look. 22RP 851.

To get Clark out of her apartment, Bassett said she would help him get rid of the body. 22RP 909. Clark left. 22RP 909. Clark came back a few minutes later and politely asked if Bassett was going to help him. 22RP 910-11. Bassett said she would be down in a minute and Clark left again. 22RP 911. After Clark left, Eller went down to ask Clark if he was serious or just playing a game. 22RP 863. Clark said he was just playing.

22RP 863. When she asked him again, he said there was a stain in the room and that she could go look. 22RP 863. He said the body was in a garbage can and he needed to cover the body with something. 22RP 863. Eller still did not believe him. 22RP 863-64. Eller thought it was not in his nature. 22RP 895.

The two went to the alley, where Clark showed Eller the body in the garbage can. 22RP 865-66. He asked her not to say anything to his mom. 22RP 865. Eller went back to her apartment and told Bassett and Woods what she had seen. 22RP 866. They all left. 22RP 866-67, 912-13. Eller and Bassett, after prompting from Eller's friend, contacted police a short time later at a park. 22RP 571-73, 579, 869-70, 914-15, 962-63.

Police responded to the scene and saw the body in the garbage can. 22RP 602-07. Police arrested Clark as he walked outside his residence with a piece of pizza and a phone in his hand. 22RP 610-12. When police entered the residence, an officer saw a bloodstain on the carpet near a closet, underneath a rug. 22RP 616, 631, 647. The carpet was smeared, as though someone had tried to clean up the blood. 22RP 667.

Police found an operable .22 caliber handgun in the toilet tank of Clark's apartment, along with the M&M container of cocaine. 22RP 704, 781, 792, 1218-19. There were 15 plastic packets of cocaine weighing approximately 2.5 grams. 22RP 1392. A shell casing from the gun was

found inside the closet. 22RP 714-16, 808, 1217, 1299-1301. A white towel with red staining that appeared to be blood was recovered from the clothes hamper in the bathroom. 22RP 704, 706, 1220. A yellow shirt with transfer and saturation bloodstains was recovered from a bedroom. 22RP 710, 720-21, 1220-21, 1329-31. There was no blood spatter on the shirt. 22RP 1333.

The body was later identified as that of 16-year-old D.D. 22RP 552-53. DNA from the carpet bloodstain and the shirt stain matched D.D.'s profile. 22RP 1368. D.D. died from a single gunshot wound to the back of the head. 22RP 1127, 1139. Because no gunshot residue was found, the medical examiner opined the shot was fired from at least two feet away, although the presence of thick hair meant the shot could have been taken from slightly less than two feet. 22RP 1129, 1154-55.⁵

2. *Clark's Testimony*

Clark testified in his own defense. 22RP 1590-1687. Clark described his mom leaving for work around 10:30 a.m. on September 7, 2011. 22RP 1617-19. Clark left the apartment shortly thereafter to see a friend. 22RP 1619. On the way there, D.D. (known to Clark as "Shorty") called out to him on the street. 22RP 1591, 1620-21. Clark and D.D. were

⁵ The defense expert on firearms opined the shot was taken from at least 36 inches away due to lack of gunpowder particles on D.D.'s shirt. 22RP 1564.

friends; they knew each other from school and hung out in the months preceding September 7. 22RP 1597-1600, 1608. They started talking and Clark told him he was going to his friend's house and then to a barbeque in the park. 22RP 1622. Clark invited D.D. to come along. 22RP 1622. D.D. asked Clark if he had a computer. 22RP 1630. Clark said yes and invited him to his house. 22RP 1623, 1630. Upon arrival, they listened to music on the computer and Clark showed D.D. an update on his Facebook page. 22RP 1630-34.

While there, D.D. opened up his coat pocket and showed Clark a gun and an M&M container of crack cocaine. 22RP 1591-92, 1635, 1642-43. Clark had never seen D.D. with cocaine before. 22RP 1682.⁶ D.D. put the gun back in his pocket and asked Clark if he knew anybody that he could sell the drugs to. 22RP 1643-44. Clark brought up Eller's name. 22RP 1674. Clark took the M&M container with its contents to Eller's apartment and talked with her and the others about selling it. 22RP 1667, 1673-76. Clark went back downstairs and gave the cocaine back to D.D. 22RP 1676. Clark told him no one was interested. 22RP 1676.

Clark then told D.D. that his mom had some jewelry. 22RP 1676. The two went to a closet to get the jewelry box. 22RP 1592-93. Clark

⁶ He also testified there was a time before September 7 where they had contacted with each other related to crack cocaine. 22RP 1613.

wanted to pawn the jewelry for money so that they could buy some food for the barbeque. 22RP 1593, 1644. The jewelry box was on the top shelf. 22RP 1593. Clark could not reach the box on the shelf without stepping on the first shelf. 22RP 1645, 1647. He explained he was in a hurry and "could not get through." 22RP 1648.

D.D. said he would get the jewelry. 22RP 1648. He pulled his gun out of his pocket, took out the clip and handed the gun to Clark. 22RP 1594, 1648-49. D.D. used the shelf to climb up. 22RP 1594, 1653. Clark sat down on the floor, "messing around with the gun," by which he meant "[a]iming it toward the closet of the ceiling." 22RP 1594-95, 1649, 1651, 1683-84. The gun went off. 22RP 1595. D.D. fell to the ground. 22RP 1596. Clark attempted CPR by pushing on his chest twice and breathing into his mouth. 22RP 1596. His attempt to revive D.D. was unsuccessful. 22RP 1596.

Clark started crying and shaking, then went up to Eller's apartment and told her, Bassett and Woods that he had accidentally shot his friend with a "deuce deuce." 22RP 1666-69.⁷ They did not believe him at first and Clark told them to come downstairs and look. 22RP 1668. He also told them the gun was still downstairs. 22RP 1669. There was no conversation about the cocaine at that time. 22RP 1668.

⁷ Clark had no children. 22RP 1682, 1690.

After the others expressed no interest in getting involved, Clark went back to his apartment. 22RP 1669-70. He put D.D.'s body in a garbage can. 22RP 1670-72, 1685-86. He knew his mom would be home by 5 o'clock and did not want her to find out what he had done. 22RP 1678. Clark invited Eller to see the body and opened the lid to the can. 22RP 1677-78. He told Eller not to tell his mother. 22RP 1678. He returned to his apartment and put the cocaine and the gun in the toilet tank. 22RP 1673.

Clark maintained he accidentally shot D.D. 22RP 1596, 1657, 1663. He did not know the gun was loaded. 22RP 1595. He saw D.D. unload the clip. 22RP 1660. He did not aim at D.D., although he aimed the gun in D.D.'s area. 22RP 1664. He knew guns are capable of shooting bullets and that the magazine holds the bullets. 22RP 1596, 1659-60. He knew guns could kill people and that he should not presume a gun is unloaded. 22RP 1660.

3. *Outcome*

For the premeditated first murder charge under count I, the jury was given lesser offense instructions for second degree intentional murder, first degree manslaughter and second degree manslaughter. CP 288-96. A jury convicted Clark as charged and returned special verdicts that he was

armed with a firearm. CP 336, 340-47. The court imposed a total of 447 months in confinement. CP 373. This appeal follows. CP 399-414.

C. ARGUMENT

1. CLARK'S COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN NOT OBJECTING TO JURORS BEING TOLD THIS CASE DID NOT INVOLVE THE DEATH PENALTY.

The law is well established in Washington. "The question of the sentence to be imposed by the court is never a proper issue for the jury's deliberation, except in capital cases." State v. Bowman, 57 Wn.2d 266, 271, 356 P.2d 999 (1960). Consequently, in a first-degree murder case, it is error to tell jurors the death penalty is not involved. State v. Townsend, 142 Wn.2d 838, 846-47, 15 P.3d 145 (2001); State v. Murphy, 86 Wn. App. 667, 668, 671, 937 P.2d 1173 (1997), review denied, 134 Wn.2d 1002 (1998).

This is a "strict prohibition" that "ensures impartial juries and prevents unfair influence on a jury's deliberations." Townsend, 142 Wn.2d at 846. Specifically, "if jurors know that the death penalty is not involved, they may be less attentive during trial, less deliberative in their assessment of the evidence, and less inclined to hold out if they know that execution is not a possibility." Id. at 847.

Despite this established prohibition, the trial court announced prior to jury selection "I just want to share with Counsel, out of an abundance of

caution, my experience in another murder case that I've had, and that is that the voir dire has been confused because when they hear murder they believe it's a capital death penalty case. And so I don't notice anything in your questionnaire, not that there should have been, but in case you haven't thought of that confusion, I thought I'd put it out there so you can handle it however you wish to as things progress." 22RP 38-39.

The prosecutor jumped on the invitation, responding "What I'm presuming, by the Court's comments, you surely wouldn't be opposed to either party identifying for the jury that this was not, in fact, a capital case." 22RP 39. The court replied "I would think that would be appropriate whenever Counsel believes it would be appropriate. And I don't know, you may get a response on your questionnaire that will make it clear that that is one of the confusions, but I felt that you should have that information, if it is a confusion, but at some point, maybe that information needs to be clarified for everyone." 22RP 39.

Defense counsel remained silent during this exchange, and the court continued on to other matters. 22RP 39. During the course of jury selection, the prosecutors told the jury on three separate occasions that the case did not involve the death penalty. 22RP 120-21, 372, 419. Defense counsel did not object at any point.

Every criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed.2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987); U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const., art. I, § 22. Defense counsel is ineffective where (1) the attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Deficient performance is that which falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 225-26. Only legitimate trial strategy or tactics constitute reasonable performance. State v. Killo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 869, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). Prejudice results from a reasonable probability that the result would have been different but for counsel's performance. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226.

Both deficient performance and prejudice are established here. No reasonable attorney would have allowed jurors to learn the death penalty did not apply. In Townsend, defense counsel failed to object when the court informed jurors of this fact. Addressing that failure, the Supreme Court recognized that, considering the longstanding prohibition against revealing that information, the failure to object fell below prevailing professional norms. Townsend, 142 Wn.2d at 847. The Court also rejected any argument that revealing this information was part of a legitimate strategy: "There was no possible advantage to be gained by

defense counsel's failures to object to the comments regarding the death penalty. On the contrary, such instructions, if anything, would only increase the likelihood of a juror convicting the petitioner." Id. Similarly, there was no tactical advantage when Clark's own attorneys permitted jurors to learn that the case did not involve the death penalty.

In State v. Rafay, counsel was deemed to have embarked on a legitimate strategy to disclose the non-death penalty nature of the case to jurors. State v. Rafay, 168 Wn. App. 734, 778-81, 285 P.3d 83 (2012), review denied, 299 P.3d 1171 (2013), cert. denied, 134 S. Ct. 170, 187 L. Ed. 2d 117 (2013). Rafay is distinguishable from Clark's case.

Rafay involved a unique confluence of factors showing legitimate strategy. Defense counsel agreed to notify jurors in the questionnaire that it was not a death penalty case; during voir dire counsel actively sought to ascertain whether potential jurors' views on the death penalty affected their ability to be fair; counsel's trial strategy included references to the death penalty in contexts not directly connected with the potential punishment in defendants' prosecution, including referral to the death penalty to undermine the credibility of two key State witnesses; and there was a possibility that the death penalty information would otherwise be disclosed in a manner outside of defense counsels' control, resulting in juror confusion and speculation from attempting to conceal that

information and a detrimental effect on the jurors' assessment of counsels' credibility. Rafay, 168 Wn. App. at 776.

Rafay distinguished itself from previous cases such as Townsend and Murphy, "which involved only brief references to the death penalty or defense counsel's half-hearted objection or complete failure to object, the record here indicates that defense counsel made a deliberate and considered legitimate and strategic choice to disclose to jurors the fact that the defendants were not subject to the death penalty." Rafay, 168 Wn. App. at 780. Clark's case is like Townsend and Murphy, not Rafay. Clark's counsel did not affirmatively participate or even agree to disclose to jurors that the case did not involve the death penalty. Counsel simply remained silent and failed to object.

There is a reasonable probability that the mistake affected the jury's verdicts on first degree murder. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693-94. The State's case for premeditated murder was not overwhelming. Premeditation is "the deliberate formation of and reflection upon the intent to take a human life" and involves "the mental process of thinking beforehand, deliberation, reflection, weighing or reasoning for a period of time, however short." State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 597-98, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995) (quoting State v. Ollens, 107

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