NO. 45103-4-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ANTHONY TYRONE CLARK, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Kathryn J. Nelson

No. 11-1-03699-7

Brief of Respondent

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
Brian Wasankari
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 28945

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

12/17/12 RP 19-22 (emphasis added). In its ultimate written order, the court held, in relevant part that:

Any testimony regarding the defendant's background shall be limited to the fact that the defendant (a) had an Individual Education Plan (IEP) and participated in Special Education classes in school (b) did not work and (c) received SSI benefits. The testimony of Dr. O'Neal is irrelevant and therefore, excluded. There shall be no

mention or reference to developmental disability, mental retardation, intelligent quotient, premature birth, low birth weight, defendant being born deaf and blind and with perforated intestines that required surgery to close, defendant being hospitalized for six months after birth, delays in sitting, walking, speech, or toileting milestones, use of sign language before using speech, psychological examinations, and medications administered for ADHD.

CP 227-28 (emphasis added).

Thus, evidence that the defendant has an IEP and was in special education, which implied, if not entailed, that he suffered from a “mental disability” was ruled admissible, and in fact admitted at trial.

The record also shows that the trial court’s ruling was proper.

Under ER 402, “[e]vidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” “Relevant evidence” is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” ER 401.

While the defendant contends that evidence of his mental retardation “was relevant to whether the State proved premeditation for first degree murder, intent for second degree murder, or recklessness for manslaughter, BOA, p. 31-39, the procedural posture of this case dictated otherwise. The only way in which such evidence would have been relevant is if defendant had asserted a diminished capacity defense.

A diminished capacity defense is one in which the defendant “produce[s] expert testimony demonstrating that a mental disorder, not amounting to insanity, impaired the defendant’s ability to form the culpable mental state to commit the crime charged.” *State v. Atsbeha*, 142 Wn.2d 904, 914, 16 P.3d 626, 631-32 (2001). See *State v. Cienfuegos*, 144 Wn.2d 222, 227, 25 P.3d 1011 (2011) (quoting *State v. Griffin*, 100 Wn.2d 417, 418-19, 670 P.2d 265 (1983)).

In this case, the defendant admits that evidence of his “mental limitations was not relevant to a diminished capacity defense because no such defense was presented,” but nevertheless argues that it was relevant to whether he “actually had the requisite mens rea at the time of the act.” BOA, p. 32. He contends that his mental limitations “made it less probable” that he actually formed the requisite mental states for the crimes charged. BOA, p. 32-39. The problem with this argument is that the only way in which Defendant’s “mental limitations” could have made it less probable that he formed the requisite mental states is by diminishing his capacity to form such states, and this, regardless of how defendant characterizes it here, is a diminished capacity defense.

Because defendant never asserted such a defense, evidence of his mental limitations was not relevant and not admissible. See BOA, p. 32. This is particularly true given that defendant never proffered or presented

evidence beyond the mere existence of his mental limitations. *See* RP 15-1874. To make evidence of a mental limitation relevant, the defendant must do more than show that he had that limitation; he must show, through expert testimony, that this limitation diminished his capacity to form the requisite *mens rea*. As the Supreme Court has stated:

It is not enough that a defendant may be diagnosed as suffering from a particular mental disorder. The diagnosis must, under the facts of the case, be capable of forensic application in order to help the trier of fact assess the defendant's mental state at the time of the crime. The opinion concerning a defendant's mental disorder must reasonably relate to impairment of the ability to form the culpable mental state to commit the crime charged.

State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d at 921. *See State v. Greene*, 139 Wn.2d 64, 73-74, 984 P.2s 1024 (1999).

Because defendant failed to present such an opinion here, the trial court properly excluded the evidence in question as not relevant under ER 402.

Although the defendant argues that “[e]vidence of [his] mental retardation was also relevant to ‘the jury’s evaluation of [his] demeanor and credibility as a witness at trial,’” RP 31, 38, sufficient evidence of this condition was before the jury to allow it to evaluate his demeanor and credibility.

The jury heard that the defendant had been in special education and had an IEP or Individual Education Plan while in school. RP 1549.

The jury heard his mother's testimony that, despite being twenty years of age, he was not allowed to have anyone at home with him when she was not present. RP 1691. These are factors from which a jury could quite reasonably infer a mental limitation sufficient to explain an unusual demeanor on or off the stand. In fact, defense counsel used such evidence in closing to make this point apparent to the jury: "Would I characterize [the defendant] as a man? No. You're talking about a 20 year old who had just graduated from special education." RP 1816.

The admission of the excluded testimony, that is evidence of "developmental disability, mental retardation, intelligent quotient, premature birth, low birth weight, defendant being born deaf and blind and with perforated intestines that required surgery to close, defendant being hospitalized for six months after birth, delays in sitting, walking, speech, or toileting milestones, use of sign language before using speech, psychological examinations, and medications administered for ADHD," would have *not* have made Defendant's credibility "more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. Therefore, it was not relevant under ER 401, and hence, not admissible under ER 402, and properly excluded by the court below.

However, even if the excluded evidence were to be considered relevant, it would have been properly excluded under ER 403.

Under that rule,

[a]lthough relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by *the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury*, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

ER 403 (emphasis added).

The trial court here held that “[w]ith respect to whether it qualified under ER 403, I do believe that parts of that rule apply in that, by putting on an expert, the jurors will be confused and misled, and in a sense, will be looking for a diminished capacity case which is not being pled or brought forward in this manner, so that bootstrapping would cause the juror confusion, and that would be another basis for excluding it.” RP 12/17/12 RP 19-22.

The court was correct. It’s not necessary, as Defendant asserts, that jurors “know anything about the technical aspects of criminal law” or diminished capacity, BOA, p. 39-40, to be confused by evidence of mental deficiencies without expert testimony as to the impact of those deficiencies on the relevant mental states.

Evidence that the defendant suffers mental limitations in the absence expert testimony that this decreased the probability of him forming the relevant mens rea, may induce jurors to make the conceptual link that the former necessarily causes the latter. This is not a leap lay jurors are qualified to make. See *Atsbeha*, 142 Wn.2d at 921; *State v.*

Greene, 139 Wn.2d 64, 73-74, 984 P.2d 1024 (1999). Indeed, the fact that Defendant must resort to citing books outside the record rather than the record itself, BOA, p. 30-31, illustrates the confusion evidence of mental limitations in the absence of evidence concerning their affect on mens rea would have caused the jury.

Such evidence would have been more likely to evoke sympathy, and hence, “unfair prejudice” under ER 403, than a reasoned analysis of whether the elements of the crimes charged had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Hence, the court properly excluded this evidence.

Because a defendant in a criminal case only “has a constitutional right to present a defense consisting of relevant evidence that is not otherwise inadmissible,” *Rafay*, 168 Wn. App. at 795, and the evidence at issue here was inadmissible under ER 402 and 403, the defendant’s right to present a defense was not compromised.

Therefore, his convictions should be affirmed. *But see* § C(4) *infra*.

3. THE DEFENDANT’S CONVICTIONS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE THERE WAS ONLY ONE ISOLATED ERROR COMMITTED AND THEREFORE, THE CUMMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE IS INAPPLICABLE.

Under the cumulative error doctrine a court “may reverse a defendant’s conviction when the combined effect of errors during trial effectively denied the defendant her [or his] right to a fair trial, even if

each error standing alone would be harmless.” *State v. Venegas*, 155 Wn. App. 507, 520, 228 P.3d 813 (2010). The “cumulative error doctrine” is “limited to instances when there have been several trial errors that standing alone may not be sufficient to justify reversal but when combined may deny a defendant a fair trial.” *State v. Greiff*, 141 Wn. 2d 910, 929, 10 P.3d 390 (2000). However, the doctrine does not apply where the errors are few and have little or no effect on the trial’s outcome.” *Venegas*, 155 Wn. App. at 520.

As explained in the remainder of this brief, there was only one error committed in the present case. *See specifically* § C(4) *infra*. Because the “cumulative error doctrine” is “limited to instances when there have been *several* trial errors,” *Greiff*, 141 Wn.2d at 929 (emphasis added), it is not applicable here.

Therefore, Defendant’s argument fails and his convictions should be affirmed.

4. THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON AN UNCHARGED ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF COMMITTING FIRST DEGREE ROBBERY.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, §22 of the Washington State Constitution both require that “the jury be instructed on all essential elements of the crime charged.” *State v.*

Chino, 117 Wn. App. 531, 538, 72 P.3d 256, 260 (2003). “The manner of committing a crime is an element [of the crime charged] and the defendant must be informed of this element in the information in order to prepare a proper defense,” *State v. Bray*, 52 Wn. App. 30, 34, 756 P.2d 1332, 1334 (1988).

Hence, “[w]hen the information alleges solely one statutory means of committing a crime, it is error for the trial court to instruct the jury on uncharged alternatives, regardless of the strength of the trial evidence.” *State v. Chino*, 117 Wn. App. 531, 539, 72 P.3d 256 (2003) (citing *State v. Severns*, 13 Wn.2d 542, 125 P.2d 659 (1942); *State v. Williamson*, 84 Wn. App. 37, 42, 924 P.2d 960 (1996); *State v. Nicholas*, 55 Wn. App. 261, 272-73, 776 P.2d 1385 (1989); *State v. Bray*, 52 Wn. App. 30, 34, 756 P.2d 1332 (1988)).

While generally, “[n]o error can be predicated on the failure of the trial court to give an instruction where no request for such an instruction was ever made,” *State v. Kroll*, 87 Wn.2d 829, 843, 558 P.2d 173 (1977); *State v. Lucero*, 140 Wn. App. 782, 787, 167 P.3d 1188 (2007) (quoting *McGarvey v. City of Seattle*, 62 Wn.2d 524, 533, 384 P.2d 127 (1963)), RAP 2.5(a), a jury instruction that instructs the jury on uncharged alternatives constitutes “a manifest error affecting a constitutional right,”

and an appellate “court may consider the issue for the first time on appeal.” *Chino*, 117 Wn. App. at 538 (quoting RAP 2.5(a)(3)).

This is because such an instruction violates due process by “omit[ting] an essential element of a crime,” i.e., the manner by which it is committed, *Bray*, 52 Wn. App. at 34, and thus, “relieves the State of its burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Chino*, 117 Wn. App. at 538.

First degree robbery is an alternative means crime. See *State v. Nicholas*, 55 Wn. App. 261, 273, 776 P.2d 1385 (1989).

- (1) A person is guilty of robbery in the first degree if:
 - (a) In the commission of a robbery or of immediate flight therefrom, he or she:
 - (i) Is armed with a deadly weapon; or
 - (ii) Displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon; or
 - (iii) Inflicts bodily injury; or
 - (b) He or she commits a robbery within and against a financial institution as defined in RCW 7.88.010 or 35.38.060.

RCW 9A.56.200.

In the present case, as in *Chino* “the information and [the court’s instruction relating thereto] pertain to the same core crime... but differed in alternative means.” *Chino*, 117 Wn. App. at 539.

The information stated, in relevant part:

That [the defendant], in the State of Washington, on or about the 7th day of September, 2011, did unlawfully and

feloniously take personal property belonging to another with intent to steal from the person or in the presence of D.D., the owner thereof or a person having dominion and control over said property, against such person's will by use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to D.D., said force or fear being used to obtain or retain possession of the property or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking, and *in the commission thereof, or in immediate flight therefrom, [Defendant] was armed with a deadly weapon, to: wit: a firearm, contrary* to RCW 9A.56.190 and *9A.56.200(1)(a)(i)*.

CP 184 (emphasis added). Hence, the information charged Defendant only under one alternative: RCW 9A.56.200(a)(i).

However, the court's instruction pertaining to that charge stated, in relevant part, that the jury could "convict the defendant of the crime of Robbery in the First Degree, Count III," if either (a) "in the commission of these acts or in immediate flight therefrom the defendant was armed with a firearm" *or* (b) "in the commission of these acts or in the immediate flight therefrom the defendant inflicted bodily injury." CP 274-335 (instruction no. 28).

Thus, the court instructed the jury that it could convict on either the charged alternative of RCW 9A.56.200(a)(i) or the uncharged alternative of RCW 9A.56.200(a)(iii). *Compare* RCW 9A.56.200 *with* CP 184 *and* CP 274-335. This appears to be error. *See, e.g., Chino*, 117 Wn. App. at 539.

Although Defendant did not object to the instruction in the trial court, *see* RP 1745-47, a jury instruction that instructs the jury on uncharged alternatives constitutes “a manifest error affecting a constitutional right” and a “court may consider the issue for the first time on appeal.” *Chino*, 117 Wn. App. at 538 (*quoting* RAP 2.5(a)(3)).

An erroneous instruction given on behalf of the party in whose favor the verdict was returned is presumed prejudicial unless it affirmatively appears that the error was harmless. An error in instructing the jury on an uncharged method of committing a crime may be harmless if “in subsequent instructions the crime charged was clearly and specifically defined to the jury.

Bray, 52 Wn. App. 34-35 (citation omitted). *See Chino*, 117 Wn. App. at 540; *Severns*, 13 Wn.2d at 549; *Nicholas*, 55 Wn. App. at 273.

There were no subsequent instructions that more clearly and specifically defined the crime for the jury. *See* CP 274-335. Nor was there an instruction requiring its unanimity on only the charged alternative means or a special verdict form indicating that it convicted on only this means. *See* CP 274-335.

Moreover, in its closing argument, the State noted, with respect to the first degree robbery count that

First degree robbery, here there were two options in the Court’s instructions explaining to you that it can be committed with either a firearm or by causing bodily injury. It just so happens, like with the first degree murder by premeditation and the felony first degree murder, that

you had both in this case. A firearm was used and it caused bodily injury. In fact, it killed D[.]D[.]

RP 1752. Later, the deputy prosecutor repeated this argument:

Robbery first degree. Firearm or bodily injury

....

It just so happens, like the felony murder, the robbery and the murder, we've got both. He used the firearm and he inflicted bodily injury.

RP 1804-05.

Therefore, the err does not appear harmless, and defendant's first degree robbery conviction should be reversed.

5. THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL WAS SUSTAINED BECAUSE THE **SUBLETT** EXPERIENCE AND LOGIC TEST CONFIRMS THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT CLOSE THE COURTROOM BY HEARING THE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AT SIDEBAR.

A criminal defendant's right to a public trial is found in article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution: both provide a criminal defendant the right to a "public trial by an impartial jury."

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